THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-in-Equity

RECEIVED
JUL 17 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No.: 2018-000260

Seabrook Island Property Owners Association,.....Respondent,

v.

Charles Kelley a/k/a Charles E. Kelley; Deborah Kelley
a/k/a Deborah L. Kelley; Mortgage Electronic Registration
Systems, Inc., its successors and assigns as nominee for
Chase Mortgage Company, its successors and assigns, a
Delaware Corporation; and Spinnaker Beach House Owners Association,.....Defendants,

Of whom Charles Kelley a/k/a Charles E. Kelley and

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT IT WAS UNDISPUTED THAT APPELLANTS WERE SERVED WITH THE COMPLAINT?
2. DID THE COURT ERR IN FINDING THE ABSENCE OF THE COMPLAINT FROM THE TWO HANDWRITTEN AFFIDAVITS OF PROCESS SERVER TO BE A SCRIVENER'S ERROR?

STATEMENT OF CASE

December 19, 2016, Respondent Seabrook Island Property Owners Association (hereinafter "Respondent SIPOA") filed a Lis Pendens, Summons, and Complaint seeking the foreclosure of Appellants' home on Seabrook Island (R.pp.26-34).

On January 5, 2017, Respondent SIPOA filed a handwritten Affidavit of Process Server attesting that Appellant Deborah Kelley had been served with the Certificate of Exemption from ADR, Certificate of Compliance, Lis Pendens, and Summons by Nelson Stoner (hereinafter "Stoner") leaving copies with Respondent Charles Kelley (R.p.39). Respondent SIPOA also filed a handwritten Affidavit of Process Server attesting that Appellant Charles Kelley was personally served by Stoner with the Certificate of Exemption from ADR, Certificate of Compliance, Lis Pendens, and Summons (R.p.40). Both Affidavits of Process Server stated that Stoner did not serve the Complaint on Appellants.

On March 9, 2017, Respondent SIPOA filed an Affidavit of Default attesting that the Summons, Lis Pendens, and Complaint had been served upon Appellants (R.p.41). An Order of Reference was filed on March 9, 2017 referring the case to the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-in-Equity for Charleston County (R.p.2).

On April 19, 2017, a foreclosure hearing was held and a Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale issued (R.pp.11-17). The Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale found that the Proof of Service showed that service of the Summons and Complaint was properly made upon the Appellants

(R.p.11). The judgment debt owed by Appellants to Respondent SIPOA was determined to total \$9,920.90 (R.p.4).

On July 20, 2017, a foreclosure sale was held at which Appellants' home was sold for the sum of \$80,000.00. The bidder at the sale was Respondent 749 Spinnaker, LLC (hereinafter "Respondent 749 Spinnaker") (R.p.49).

On September 18, 2017, Appellants filed a Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default and Vacate Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale and Master's Deed (hereinafter "Motion to Set Aside") in which Appellants stated that they were not served with the Complaint and that service had been defective pursuant to Rule 4 (R.pp.45-47).

On October 13, 2017, Respondent 749 Spinnaker filed a Motion to Intervene and Memorandum in Opposition to Appellants' Motion to Set Aside (R.pp.48-58).

On October 17, 2017, Respondent SIPOA filed Amended Affidavits of Process Server and attested that the Complaint had been served on Appellants (R.pp.74-75). With regard to Appellant Deborah Kelley, the Amended Affidavit of Process Server contains no statement regarding her being present at the time of service, in contrast to the original Affidavit of Process Server (R.p.74).

On November 21, 2017, Appellants filed Affidavits in which they attested that the Complaint was not included in the documents served upon them (R.pp.81-84).

Respondent SIPOA filed a Reply to Appellants' Motion to Set Aside on or about November 20, 2017 (R.pp.261-264). On November 27, 2017, Appellants filed a Memorandum in Support of Motion to Set Aside (R.pp.85-259). On November 29, 2017, a Consent Order was filed granting Respondent 749 Spinnaker's Motion to Intervene (R.pp.3-4).

On December 15, 2017, the lower court issued an Order denying Appellants' Motion to Set Aside (R.pp.5-8).

On January 8, 2018, Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration (R.pp.260-261).

On January 22, 2018, Respondent SIPOA filed a Reply in Opposition to Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration (R.pp.262-263).

On January 25, 2018, Respondent 749 Spinnaker filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration (R.pp.265-268).

On February 12, 2018, the lower court issued an order denying Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration (R.pp.9-10).

On February 20, 2018, Appellants' Notice of Appeal was filed (R.pp.271-276).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“While the decision of whether to grant relief from an entry of default is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court, an abuse of discretion arises if the lower court’s decision is controlled by an error of law or is without evidentiary support”, Bage, LLC v. S.C. Roofing Co. of Spartanburg, Inc., 373 S.C. 457, 471, 646 S.C.2d 153, 160 (Ct. App. 2007).

FACTS

Appellants reside in Punxsutawney, Pennsylvania and owned their home on Seabrook Island for over thirty years. In 2016, Appellant Charles Kelley became ill and was diagnosed with Leukemia (R.p.83). He subsequently received treatment in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania including chemotherapy and hospitalization (R.p.83).

This foreclosure action was commenced relative to a property owners' association lien in the amount of \$2,755.89 which included assessments for attorneys' fees, costs, charges, late fees,

and interest¹(R.p.36). Respondent SIPOA filed Affidavits of Process Server reflecting that Appellants had not been served with the Complaint (R.pp.39-40). A Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale and Master's Deed was issued which included findings that the Proof of Service showed that Appellants had been served with the Complaint in contrast to the filed Affidavits of Process Server (R.pp.11-17). The Record of Hearing also errantly stated that the filed Affidavits of Process Server showed that service of the Complaint had been properly made upon Appellants (R.pp.66-67).

The high bidder at the foreclosure sale was Respondent 749 Spinnaker whose members are Philip and Cherie Squire, neighbors of Appellants (R.p.49). Philip Squire is a member of Respondent SIPOA's Board of Directors and also serves as President of Respondent 749 Spinnaker Beach Houses Owners Association (hereinafter "Respondent 749 Spinnaker Beach HOA") (R.pp.228-229).

On or about September 15, 2017, Appellants learned that the locks to their home had been changed, promptly engaged counsel and filed the Motion to Set Aside (R.pp.81-84). In their motion and supporting memorandum, Appellants maintained that service was defective rendering all proceedings in this action void (R.pp.45-47).

In denying Appellants' motion, the lower court found that:

"It is undisputed that the Affidavits of Service for the Kelley Defendants, which were filed on January 5, 2017, contained a scrivener's error and that the affiant failed to indicate that the Complaint was served, along with the Certificate of Exemption from ADR, Lis Pendens, and Summons." (R.p.7)

The lower court further found that:

"the Kelley Defendants failed to provide any evidence contradicting the service of process other than affidavits where they admit being served with all documents..." (R.p.8)

¹ S1145 would prohibit Homeowner's Associations from foreclosing on a lien solely for non-payment of fees, fines, assessments, and other charges.

On January 8, 2018, Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration seeking redress of the following errors:

1. That it was undisputed that the Complaint was served upon Appellants;
2. That Appellants admitted being served with all documents in their affidavits; and
3. That Respondent SIPOA's Affidavits of Process Server contained scriveners' errors (R.pp.260-261).

Appellants' Motion for Reconsideration was denied on February 12, 2018 (R.pp.9-10).

ARGUMENTS

I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT IT WAS UNDISPUTED THAT APPELLANTS WERE SERVED WITH THE COMPLAINT?

In their Motion to Set Aside, Appellants stated that they were not served with the Complaint and cited Rule 4's requirement that, "*the summons and complaint must be served together*" to constitute effective service (R.p.46). In support of their motion, Appellants filed Affidavits attesting that the Complaint was absent from the documents served upon them (R.pp.81-84). Despite these filings, the lower court found that it was "*undisputed*" that the Complaint was served upon Appellants (R.p.7). The lower court also found that Appellants admitted to being served with all documents in their affidavits (R.p.8). These findings are contrary to the record in this case².

In its order, the lower court suggests that this "*scrivener's error*" was corrected soon after Respondent SIPOA filed the Affidavits of Process Server (R.pp.7-8). In fact, the Amended Affidavits of Process Server were not filed until October 17, 2017, more than nine (9) months

² In her affidavit, Appellant Deborah Kelley attests to "*the absence of the Complaint from the documents provided*,"(R.p.82). Appellant Charles Kelley states that he located the papers provided to him by Stoner which did not include the Complaint (R.p.84).

after the filing of the original Affidavits of Process Server and approximately one (1) month after the filing of Appellants' Motion to Set Aside (R.pp.74-75).

The lower court did not address the material differences in the Affidavits of Process Server as to Appellant Deborah Kelley. In Stoner's original handwritten Affidavit of Process Server, she was noted as being physically present at the time of service (R.p.39). In Stoner's Amended Affidavit of Process Server, Appellant Deborah Kelley's presence is not addressed and she is purported to have been served through her husband (R.p.74).

The denial of Appellants' Motion to Set Aside would have been proper if, in fact, it was undisputed that Appellants had been served with the Complaint. The record reflects the opposite. Appellants have consistently denied being served with the Complaint (R.pp.45-47, 81-84, 260-261). The Order of Default and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale were issued despite the record at the time showing that service was defective (R.pp.39-40).

Under Rule 60(b), a court may relieve a party from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons:

1. Mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect;
2. Newly discovered evidence which by due diligence, could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b);
3. Fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party;
4. The judgment is void; and
5. The judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged or prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application.

It is well settled that "*a void judgment is one that, from its inception, is a complete nullity and is without legal effect.*" Universal Benefits, Inc. v. McKinney, 349 S.C. at 183, 561 S.E.2d 661, (Ct.App.2002)(quoting Thomas & Howard Co. v. T.W. Graham & Co., 318 S.C.

286, 291, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343 (1995)). “*The definition of void under the rule encompasses judgments from courts which fail to provide proper due process, or judgments from courts which lacked subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction.*” *Id.*(quoting McDaniel v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 324 S.C. 639, 644, 478 S.E.2d 868, 871 (Ct. App.1996)). “*Generally, a person against whom a judgment or order is taken without notice may rightly ignore it and may assume that no court will enforce it against his person or property.*” *Id.*

In Belle Hall Plantation Homeowner’s Association, Inc. v. David Conor Keys & Karen Keys, 419 S.C. 605, 799 S.E.2d 310, Op. No. 5467 (Ct. App. 2017), the vacating of a foreclosure sale under Rule 60(b), SCRPC was affirmed when “*there was an Affidavit of Service that was a misrepresentation to the Court.*” In *Belle Hall*, the court affirmed the Master’s finding that in the interest of equity and good cause, the motion to vacate should be granted.

As the record in this case includes Stoner’s two (2) Affidavits of Process Server reflecting that he did not serve the Complaint on Appellants and Appellants’ two (2) Affidavits and motions attesting that they were not served with the Complaint, the lower court erred in denying Appellants’ Motion to Set Aside.

II. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FINDING THE ABSENCE OF THE COMPLAINT FROM THE TWO HANDWRITTEN AFFIDAVITS OF PROCESS SERVER TO BE A SCRIVENER’S ERROR?

In denying Appellants’ Motion to Set Aside, the lower court found that the absence of the Complaint from the two (2) Affidavits of Process Server to be scrivener’s errors (R.p.7). Black’s Law Dictionary defines a “*scrivener’s error*” as “*a clerical error resulting from minor mistake or inadvertence, especially in writing or copying something on the record,*” Black’s Law Dictionary, 563 (7th ed. 1999). “*Examples of scrivener’s errors include typing an incorrect number; mis-transcribing a word; and failing to log a call,*” United States of America v. James