THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No.: 2018-000260

**RECEIVED**

JUL 26 2018

**SC Court of Appeals**

Seabrook Island Property Owners Association,.....Respondent,

v.

Charles Kelley a/k/a Charles E. Kelley; Deborah Kelley a/k/a Deborah L. Kelley; Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., its successors and assigns as nominee for Chase Mortgage Company, its successors and assigns, a Delaware Corporation; and Spinnaker Beach House Owners Association,.....Defendants,

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE RECORD SUPPORTS THE MASTER’S CONCLUSION THAT THE KELLEYS WERE SERVED WITH THE NECESSARY PLEADINGS.**

The Master acted well within his discretion in denying the motion to vacate the judgment.<sup>2</sup> The Master concluded that the Kelleys were served with the Complaint and that the lack of a reference to the Complaint in the original service affidavit was merely an omission by mistake. This finding was not any kind of legal error, and it finds ample support in the record. Therefore, the decision was not an abuse of discretion, and this Court should affirm it.

The original affidavits from the process server did not include the word “Complaint” in the list of documents served, although the Complaint certainly was part of the packet that the process server was hired to deliver. As the Master concluded, the omission of the word “Complaint” in the affidavits was merely a mistake. It was not, as the Kelleys suggest in their brief, some kind of admission or affirmative representation

---

<sup>2</sup> Although the Kelleys styled their filing as a “Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default and Vacate Judgment of Sale and Master’s Foreclosure Deed,” it was too late at the time of filing to pursue a motion to set aside the entry of default under Rule 55, SCRCF. Thus, the motion was solely one for relief from the judgment under Rule 60(b). Indeed, that is the manner in which the Kelleys have always argued the motion.

that the Complaint was not served with the pleadings. Any question as to whether the omission was intentional was resolved when the process server submitted an amended or corrected service affidavit that included “Complaint” in the list of pleadings served. That revised affidavit constituted evidence to support the Master’s finding that the Kelleys received the Summons and Complaint. Because that finding has record support, it is not an abuse of discretion as South Carolina defines that term.

The finding was also not “controlled by an error of law” because the Kelleys’ motion did not ask the Master to determine whether the method of service complied with the law, which would be a legal issue. The Kelleys could not, and cannot, seriously dispute that if the process server delivered the Complaint to them along with the other documents, it constituted proper service. Rather, the motion asked the Master to conclude that service of the Complaint never occurred at all. That was not a legal question, and it only required the Master to consider the record evidence relating to that issue. Thus, although the Kelleys contend the Master’s decision was “wrong,” they cannot claim it was a legal error.

In addition, even though the Master did not make this specific ruling in his Order, the facts leading up to the entry of default and subsequent judgment demonstrate no violation of the Kelleys’ due process rights. To the contrary, those facts reveal that the Kelleys received ample notice of Seabrook’s foreclosure action and had every opportunity to present any substantive defenses they might have had.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> The record from the proceedings below does not demonstrate any meritorious defenses to the foreclosure action, and the Appellant’s Brief does not argue that any such defenses existed.

Three months before commencing the foreclosure action, Seabrook sent the Kelleys a letter notifying them of the debt and demanding that it be paid within a set time period. Seabrook's attorney sent that letter by regular and certified mail, and there is no evidence the certified mailing was returned undelivered. This means that by the end of August 2016, the Kelleys knew – or were at least on notice – that Seabrook planned to file a foreclosure action against them if they failed to satisfy the debt.

After filing the Lis Pendens and Summons and Complaint in December 2016, Seabrook sent copies of those pleadings to a process server in the Kelleys' home state of Pennsylvania for personal service. Although they claim not to remember being served with any pleadings, the Kelleys admit in their affidavits that a search found copies of at least some of those pleadings in their home. [R. pp. 81-84.] Those pleadings included, at a minimum, the Lis Pendens and the Summons for the foreclosure action. [R. pp. 81-84.] This corroborates the process server's affidavit showing that service occurred in December 2016. Even if one believes the Complaint was not served, the Kelleys undeniably still received notice of the legal action against them. Coupled with the previous demand letter, this notice was more than sufficient to require some responsive action by the Kelleys.

As the South Carolina Supreme Court has noted, “[e]xacting compliance with the rules is not required to effect service of process.” *BB&T v. Taylor*, 368 S.C. 548, 552, 633 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2006). “Rather, [the Court must] inquire whether the plaintiff has sufficiently complied with the rules such that the court has personal jurisdiction of the defendant and the defendant has notice of the proceedings.” *Id.* (quoting *Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence*, 318 S.C. 207, 211, 456 S.E.2d 897, 900 (1995)). “A court

generally obtains personal jurisdiction by the service of a summons.” *Id.* at 551, 633 S.E.2d at 503.

It is undisputed that the Kelleys were at least served with the Summons shortly after Seabrook filed the foreclosure action. Seabrook asserts, and the Master correctly found, that the Kelleys were also served with the Complaint. But even if they were not, the Kelleys had received a previous demand letter and they were certainly served with copies of the *Lis Pendens*. Those materials alerted the Kelleys to the subject matter of the legal action that Seabrook had filed against them. And yet, the Kelleys did nothing in response to service of those documents, just as they had failed to respond to the demand letter.

Again, though, it is unnecessary for the Court to reach or consider the preceding point because the record supports the Master’s conclusion that the Kelleys did receive service of the Complaint. The amended or corrected affidavit of the process server, if accepted as true, firmly establishes that fact. The Master was entitled to accept and rely upon that affidavit, and that is precisely what he did. Therefore, the Master’s decision was not an abuse of discretion, and this Court should affirm the decision below.

Perhaps because they cannot genuinely deny the existence of record evidence to support the Master’s decision, the Kelleys rely on semantics in the arguments presented in their Appellants’ Brief. Those arguments attempt to divert the Court’s attention from the real issue (*i.e.* whether the record supports the Master’s decision), and in any event they do not have the force or significance the Kelleys attribute to them.

First, the Kelleys take issue with the use of the word “undisputed,” which appears several times in the Order. The Kelleys contend that word was improper in connection to

the issue on appeal because they challenged whether there was proper service of the Summons and Complaint. Yet, the word “undisputed” in the Order does not apply to the dispositive issue of whether service occurred. Rather, the Order uses “undisputed” to describe facts about the service affidavits, as the following passage illustrates:

It is undisputed that the Affidavits of Service for the Kelley Defendants, which were filed on January 5, 2017, contained a scrivener’s error in that the affiant failed to indicate that the Complaint was served along with the Certificate of Exemption from ADR, Lis Pendens, and Summons. It is also undisputed that upon discovery of the scrivener’s error, the process server submitted Amended Affidavits of Service, wherein he explained the scrivener’s error and verified that the Complaint was properly served on Kelley Defendants in compliance with Rule 4 SCRPC.

[R. p. 7.] Although the Kelleys apparently disagree with the first statement that the original affidavit contained a “scrivener’s error,” there is, in fact, no dispute that the process server claimed it did and that he submitted an amended affidavit to that effect. Thus, this passage does not say that the issue of service was undisputed. It merely states facts regarding the process server’s affidavits.

The Kelleys also contend the Order erroneously states that they admitted to being served “with all documents” in their affidavits. [Appellants’ Brief, p. 5.] This assertion is incorrect. The Order contains the following sentence regarding the affidavits: “The Kelley Defendants have failed to provide any evidence contradicting the service of process other than affidavits where they admit being served with all documents, but ‘believe’ that the Complaint was omitted.” [R. p. 8 (emphasis added).] The record shows everything in this sentence is true. The Kelleys submitted no evidence other than their own affidavits; they admitted in those affidavits that they had received copies of most of the documents; and they denied receiving the Complaint. The challenged

sentence serves no purpose other than to state those basic facts, and it does not constitute any error at all, let alone a reversible one.

The Kelleys next argue that the omission of the word “Complaint” in the original service affidavits does not qualify as a “scrivener’s error.” Although Seabrook disagrees with this assertion, it would serve no purpose to debate the specific definition of the term “scrivener’s error.” As the corrected service affidavit demonstrates, the absence of the word “Complaint” from the original affidavit was an inadvertent omission. There is no record evidence that it was anything else. The Order could have used the phrase “inadvertent omission” instead of “scrivener’s error,” and it would not have changed the substance of the ruling because those phrases are interchangeable in this context. What the Order conveys is a finding that the process server mistakenly left out the word “Complaint” in the original affidavit, even though he did serve that pleading with the other documents. The record contains evidence to support that finding. Thus, the question of whether or not that omission falls within the dictionary definition of a “scrivener’s error” is a red herring.

Finally, the Kelleys cite and rely upon *Belle Hall Plantation Homeowners Ass’n v. Murray*, 419 S.C. 605, 799 S.E.2d 310 (Ct. App. 2017). In *Belle Hall*, this Court affirmed the Master-in-Equity’s decision to vacate a foreclosure sale based on a finding that the defendant was not properly served. *Belle Hall* is distinguishable, however, because it involved very different facts. The plaintiff in *Belle Hall* made unsuccessful efforts to serve the defendant and then sought an order for service by publication of the defendant, John A. Murray. In support of that request, the plaintiff submitted an affidavit that was facially defective. The affidavit stated that the plaintiff had made efforts to

locate “John A. Murray,” but the attached documents in support revealed the plaintiff had actually been trying to locate and serve “John E. Murray,” who was John A. Murray’s father. Consequently, the plaintiff had not satisfied the statutory requirements for service by publication, and the court should not have allowed such service. This meant there was no valid service on the defendant, and under those circumstances the Court found the Master’s decision to vacate the resulting foreclosure was proper.

Two important facts distinguish the present case from *Belle Hall*. First, the plaintiff in *Belle Hall* did not argue the error in the affidavit for service by publication was inadvertent, and it never submitted a corrected or amended affidavit. Here, Seabrook filed a second affidavit from the process server that corrected the unintentional omission of the word “Complaint.” As a result, the Master in this case had a basis for concluding that proper service occurred, whereas the Master in *Belle Hall* did not.

The second distinguishing factor is perhaps more subtle, but equally as important. The Court’s thorough summary of the facts in *Belle Hall* makes it clear that the defendant had no notice whatsoever of the lien or the resulting foreclosure action until after the foreclosure sale had taken place. At that point, the defendant acted as quickly as possible to seek relief. Here, on the other hand, the Kelleys undeniably knew about the lien and the foreclosure action before any entry of default. Seabrook sent the Kelleys a demand letter about the lien three months before filing suit, and the process server delivered pleadings in the foreclosure action to the Kelleys nearly two-and-a-half months before the

court entered a default.<sup>4</sup> In short, the Kelleys had notice of the lien and foreclosure action, and the defendant in *Belle Hall* did not. This is a significant difference.

By focusing solely on perceived technical flaws in some of the Order's phrasing, the Kelleys miss the proverbial forest for the trees. A review of the Order as a whole, and the record which supports it, demonstrates that the Master properly analyzed the dispositive issue. There is no indication that the Master failed to consider the Kelleys' affidavits in which they claimed not to have received the Complaint. Indeed, the Order specifically references those affidavits, which means the Master read them and took them into account. However, the Kelleys' affidavits were not the only ones in the record. The Master also considered the amended affidavit of the process server who delivered pleadings to the Kelleys. Based on a review of all those affidavits, and everything else in the record, the Master concluded proper service of all necessary pleadings had occurred. The Kelleys obviously disagree with that conclusion, but the record supports it. The Master had the discretion to determine which evidence to credit on the issue of service, and the ultimate decision was well within that discretion. Therefore, the resulting judgment was not void, and the Master properly denied the Kelleys' Rule 60(b)(4) motion.<sup>5</sup>

The Kelleys had every opportunity to respond to the foreclosure action and prevent a judgment by default. They were on notice of the lien, and of Seabrook's

---

<sup>4</sup> Although the Kelleys deny they received the Complaint, they admit in their affidavits that they were served with the other initial pleadings, which included the Summons and Lis Pendens.

<sup>5</sup> The Kelleys have not sought relief based on any other subsections of Rule 60(b), and the Master never ruled on any such arguments. Therefore, any arguments based on those other subsections are waived, and the only remaining focus of this case is subsection (b)(4).

intention to seek legal remedies if the Kelleys did not pay it, some three months before the foreclosure action began. The Kelleys then received all necessary pleadings in plenty of time to submit an Answer. Yet, in both instances, the Kelleys did nothing. That inaction led to negative consequences, and the Master properly declined to relieve the Kelleys from them. The Master acknowledged the Kelleys' argument that they had not been served with the Complaint, but the record fully supports his finding to the contrary. Accordingly, there is no legal error or abuse of discretion in this case, and the Court should affirm the Master's Order.

## **II. THE KELLEYS' APPEAL IS UNTIMELY AND SHOULD BE DISMISSED.**

Rule 203 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules governs the time for appealing an order from the circuit court. In relevant part, the applicable rule states:

A notice of appeal shall be served on all respondents within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of entry of the order or judgment. When a timely motion for judgment n.o.v. (Rule 50, SCRCPP), motion to alter or amend the judgment (Rules 52 and 59, SCRCPP), or a motion for a new trial (Rule 59, SCRCPP) has been made, the time for appeal for all parties shall be stayed and shall run from receipt of written notice of entry or the order granting or denying such motion. ...

Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR (emphasis added).<sup>6</sup> Here, Master filed the Order denying the Kelley's motion to vacate the judgment on December 15, 2017. The Kelleys did not file their Notice of Appeal until February 20, 2018, more than two months later. Thus, the Notice of Appeal did not comply with the requirements of Rule 203(b)(1), and the appeal was not timely.

---

<sup>6</sup> Rule 203(b)(1) applies to "Appeals From the Court of Common Pleas," but the standards set forth in that subsection also apply to "Appeals From Masters and Special Referees." See Rule 203(b)(4), SCACR.

The Kelleys did not address this issue in their Appellant's Brief, but presumably they rely on the filing of their motion to reconsider under Rule 59(e), SCRC. The Master denied that motion in a form order filed on February 12, 2018. If that order triggered Rule 203(b)(1)'s thirty-day time period, the appeal would be timely, as it was filed eight days later. However, the record and the applicable law suggest that the order on February 12, 2018, was a nullity, and the triggering order was the Master's original one filed on December 15, 2017.

Under Rule 59(e), SCRC, a motion to alter or amend a judgment (commonly referred to as a "motion to reconsider") "shall be served not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of the order." The Supreme Court has held that this ten-day limit for serving a Rule 59(e) motion "is an absolute deadline" that cannot be extended. *Overland, Inc. v. Nance*, \_\_\_ S.C. \_\_\_, \_\_\_ S.E.2d \_\_\_ (2018), Op. No. 27800 (filed May 23, 2018) (citing *Leviner v. Sonoco Prods. Co.*, 339 S.C. 492, 530 S.E.2d 127 (2000)). Therefore, a motion under Rule 59(e) cannot possibly be timely unless it is served within that ten-day time period.

The Kelleys did not file their Rule 59(e) motion in a timely manner. The original Order was filed on December 15, 2017, and the Kelleys did not file and serve their motion until January 8, 2018, which was twenty-four days later. Granted, December 15<sup>th</sup> fell on a Friday, and it is possible written notice of the Order was not sent until early the next week. Even if that scenario is assumed to be true, however, it does not aid the Kelleys. This is not a situation in which a brief delay in the court sending notice of the Order would have made a difference. The Kelleys did not miss the deadline by just a day or two. This fact is significant for purposes of this issue.

When Seabrook opposed the Rule 59(e) motion as untimely, the Kelleys' attorney filed an affidavit stating that the Kelleys did not receive notice of the order until December 28, 2017. However, the Master did not cite that affidavit in its order denying the motion, and the record does not indicate when the court first sent out written notice of the order or why the long claimed delay in providing notice would have occurred. Accordingly, Seabrook respectfully asserts the Kelleys have not carried their burden of establishing that their Rule 59(e) motion was timely, and as a result, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal. *See Elam v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 14-15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004) ("The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, *i.e.*, if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to 'rescue' the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.") Therefore, the Court should dismiss the appeal.

### **CONCLUSION**

Although the Kelleys deny receiving the Complaint along with the Summons and other initial pleadings, the record contains evidence that they did. The process server's corrected affidavit states that he served the Complaint along with those other documents. The Master credited that amended affidavit, as it was within his discretion to do, and the contents of that affidavit fully support the Master's conclusion on the issue of service. Accordingly, the Master's decision is proper and untainted by any legal error, and this Court should affirm.